RECEIVED

May 28 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas G.D. Morgan, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2021-CP-23-04620

Appeal Case No. 2024-002011

Steven Maness

Appellant

v.

Gunter Heating & Air and
Teddy Gunter

Respondent

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Steven Maness, pro se

305 Kilgore Farms Circle

Simpsonville, South Carolina 29681

864-905-1314

1. Statement of Jurisdiction
2. Issues Presented
3. Statement of the Case
4. Statement of Facts
5. Summary of Argument
6. Argument
7. Conclusion
8. Appendix – List of Exhibits
9. Table of Authorities

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This appeal is from an order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondents Gunter Heating & Air and Teddy L. Gunter, entered on September 18, 2024. Appellant filed a timely Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend, which was denied on October 29, 2024. Appellant then filed a Notice of Appeal on November 20, 2024, pursuant to Rule 203(d)(1)(B), SCACR. Jurisdiction is proper in this Court under S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200(a)(1).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment where genuine issues of material fact existed as to the cause and timing of the HVAC failure?
2. Did the trial court err in applying the statute of repose under S.C. Code § 15-3-640 where the HVAC system is a removable appliance using refrigerant and natural gas, not an improvement to real property?
3. Did the trial court err in refusing to apply S.C. Code § 15-3-670, which provides exceptions to the statute of repose for hidden, concealed defects, building code violations, recklessness, gross negligence and concealment of a cause of action.
4. Did the trial court err in holding that the discovery rule did not apply where the defect and damage were not reasonably discoverable until 2018?
5. Did the trial court err in relying on misleading factual assertions based on a prior insurance claim and irrelevant prior proceedings to support summary judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2005, Gunter Heating & Air and Teddy L. Gunter installed the original HVAC system, including ductwork, in Appellant Steven Maness's newly constructed home. In response to water and mold damage discovered in 2018 — which State Farm Fire and Casualty Company initially acknowledged and partially covered as HVAC-related/caused loss, but subsequently declined to fully pay as the scope of repair expanded. Respondent denied all responsibility. (R. pp. 85, 86, 87, 90) Appellant filed suit in 2021.

The initial complaint named both State Farm and Gunter Heating & Air, alleging claims for negligent installation and failure to cover a loss. The original complaint was filed on September 24, 2021. Respondents Gunter Heating & Air and Teddy Gunter filed their Answer on October 20, 2021.

After a December 6, 2022 hearing, State Farm was denied Summary Judgment for breach of contract but was granted Summary Judgment for acting in bad faith.

On December 1, 2023, Appellant filed a Motion to Compel in an effort to obtain the EDT Report from Respondent. The motion was granted on January 22, 2024.

On April 25, 2024, Respondents filed a two-paragraph Motion for Summary Judgment.

On June 6, 2024, State Farm and Appellant resolved litigation between themselves.

On August 23, 2024, Appellant filed with the court a sworn affidavit and engineering report of Warren Maddox, P.E., detailing findings from his inspection of the Maness home.

On August 26, 2024, Appellant filed a sworn affidavit in response to the Motion for Summary Judgment.

Just days before the scheduled Motion for Summary Judgment hearing, on August 30, 2024 (the Friday before Labor Day), Respondents filed with the trial court an extensive memorandum in support of their Summary Judgment motion, well outside the ten-day window required by Rule 56(c), S.C.R.C.P., and without any notice to Appellant.

On September 3, 2024, three (3) days before the hearing, Respondent's counsel emailed Appellant a 13-page memorandum with multiple lengthy exhibits.

The summary judgment hearing was held on September 6, 2024.

On September 18, 2024, the court issued an Order Granting Summary Judgment in favor of Respondents.

With the trial court closed for several days after Hurricane Helene, Appellant timely filed a Motion to Reconsider the Summary Judgment ruling on October 3, 2024.

Appellant's Motion to Reconsider was denied on October 29, 2024.

Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal on November 20, 2024.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2005, Respondents, Gunter Heating & Air and Teddy Gunter installed the HVAC system, including extensive metal ductwork, in Appellant's newly constructed home. For at least three years, Gunter Heating performed seasonal HVAC work and inspections. (R. 37, Motion for Summary Judgment Hearing Transcript/Tr. p. 29:8 – 16)

The system heated and cooled adequately, requiring only normal maintenance until September 25, 2018, when Appellant-Maness noticed sudden moisture issues — including swelled and buckling hardwood flooring and difficulty opening and closing the front door. (R. pp. 88, 89, 96)

Upon inspection, Appellant discovered excessive moisture dripping from all parts of the HVAC ductwork throughout the home's crawlspace. When floor insulation was pulled down underneath the master bathroom cabinet, extreme wetness was found around the HVAC duct/floor connection and under the bathroom cabinet, revealing pervasive moisture damage, condensation and mold. Wood rot was also discovered under the subfloor, damage ultimately traced back to poorly insulated metal ductwork in the crawlspace, later confirmed by 2 separate forensic engineering reports.

Maddox Engineering Report and supporting affidavit of Warren Maddox, P.E., Appellant's technical expert (R. pp. 97 – 103; R. pp. 55 – 57, respectively)

The affidavit of Appellant Steven Maness, (R. pp. 58 – 65)

The EDT Report prepared for Respondents by Jeff Jaco, Respondent's technical expert (R. pp. 283 – 300).

This area of concentrated damage, discovered under the master bathroom cabinet, was under the home, contained in the crawlspace, over 30 feet from the crawlspace door, over, then under four horizontal drainpipes, around and behind two brick column supports, up, then between floor trusses, then behind a thick layer of floor insulation (easiest one to access). During the water remediation process three (3) areas like this were found: two (2) at opposite ends of the lower level, under bathroom cabinets, forty-one (41) feet from each other and one (1) in the middle of the lower level, under the main kitchen cabinet. (R. p. 84, First-floor layout with areas highlighted, from Motion to Reconsider (MTR) Exhibit A4)

Appellant immediately notified State Farm Insurance and filed a claim.

Appellant also notified Respondent Gunter, and Appellant initiated water remediation through Servpro of North Greenville.

Respondent visited the home the next day on September 26, 2018, inspected the system, and apparently closed all the foundation vents. After a few phone calls, Respondent instructed Appellant to file a claim. (R. pp. 37 – 39, Tr. 29:23 – 31:3; R. p. 86)

During drying and remediation Appellant and Servpro technicians together, made multiple openings in the larger ductwork trunkline vapor barrier to release trapped water. This occurred after the damage was discovered in order to expedite the drying process. (R. p. 25 – 26, Tr. 17:9 – 18:10)

State Farm adjuster Daniel Addis and Servpro both documented the loss as due to HVAC defect. Prior water issue with dishwasher was noted in the claim but State Farm or Servpro did not indicate in any way, any connection with any prior claim, specifically the dishwasher leak, either in writing or verbally. (R. p. 85, MTR Ex. A5)

Gunter retained Engineering Design & Testing (EDT), whose engineer Jeff Jaco inspected the home for several hours on March 14, 2019 and identified verbally, directly to Appellant, inadequate or missing duct insulation at the duct “boots” as the primary root cause of the water damage. (R. p. 25 Tr. 17: 9 – 15; R. p. 286 (EDT Report p. 4); R. p. 91)

Respondent then denied Appellant’s demand citing “system age and wear and tear.”

“INSURED CONTACT Rec'd call from Mr. NI “He states the RP didn't properly insulate the ductwork and at every register there is no insulation. They also didn't install the correct size return air vent which was inadequate to move the air which also caused the problem over time. He also has property damage he needs to claim. I asked if repairs have been made and he said they have not because the unit has not been replaced.

Called OIC and rep Anita Rice is no longer with the company
Claim reassigned to: Sean Warman 412-858-1144 cm@motoristgroup.com
Spoke to Sean Warman and asked if claim has been denied. He said it has. He stated their expert said it was normal wear and tear. I asked for a copy of their report and he said they do not share it. Gave him email to send us denial letter.”
04-29-2019 - 10:03 AM: McClinton, Toni, State Farm Ins. (R. p. 87, MTR Ex. A7)

The actual report from EDT was withheld from Appellant for nearly 5 years. Respondent refused to deliver it, then Respondent’s counsel instructed EDT/Jeff Jaco to refuse a properly served subpoena in 2023. In a Motion to Compel hearing in early 2024, Appellant cited six written requests and subpoena for the report along with long overdue interrogatories. Judge Morgan GRANTED Motion to Compel for its delivery in January, 2024. (R. pp. 49 – 54)

Experts from EDT and Maddox Engineering both concluded that the system had been improperly installed from the outset, with undersized or absent insulation around metal ducts throughout the duct system, causing long-term condensation. These deficiencies were

concealed within the crawlspace (under the house) completely outside and out of view from the living area. They were very difficult to access, up between floor trusses & under floor insulation (poorly insulated/sealed boots). (R. pp. 32 – 33, Tr. p. 24: 23 – Pg 25:3; R. pp. 298 – 300, EDT report figures 23-27)

In other areas, requiring a destructive test to measure actual insulation thickness wrapping of the ductwork. (R. p. 102, Maddox report, page 6)

Background regarding past insurance claim.

In 2008, a dishwasher leak caused surface-level water damage in the kitchen, requiring replacement of several hardwood boards and refinishing. Everything was put back into place exactly as before (the home was just over 2 years old), except the granite counter top, which was cracked upon removal (all tops required replacement in order to match). That claim was handled by a contractor, inspected by mortgage holder Wells Fargo and State Farm. Then State Farm paid the balance of the contractor's bill. State Farm pursued subrogation against Frigidaire for the entire cost and Appellant was refunded his deductible. (R. p. 28, Tr. p. 20: 14 – 21: 4)

Following that event, Gunter Heating & Air was called to replace a short duct segment just under the floor register containing construction debris elsewhere in the crawlspace but left the undamaged section under the kitchen cabinet adjacent to the dishwasher untouched. The photographic record shows this same section remained unchanged until 2018. The Respondent was the last and only contractor to perform any work or make any modifications whatsoever to the duct system.

2008 Before (R. pp. 216, 93 – 94) and 2009 After Gunter repair. (R. pp. 215, 95; R. p. 27, Tr. p. 19: 2 – 11)

2008 (R. pp. 268) and 2018 (R. p. 299/Fig 25, R. p. 107) photos of kitchen ductwork comparison. (R. p. 29, Tr. p. 21:16 – 22:1)

Maddox Engineering concluded that no amount of homeowner maintenance could have detected or prevented the defect. "Homeowner maintenance would not have prevented the moisture damage that has occurred." (R. p. 103)

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR REVERSAL

This appeal seeks reversal of the trial court's summary judgment for the following fundamental reasons:

1. Errors of Law

S.C. Code § 15-3-640 The trial court misapplied the statute of repose by treating improperly installed insulation on a HVAC system (which is an appliance) as a permanent real property improvement.

S.C. Code § 15-3-670 A-B The trial court failed to apply statutory exceptions for fraud, gross negligence, recklessness, concealment of a cause of action and specific building code violations.

S.C. Code § 15-3-670 C, 1&2 The trial court failed to acknowledge the very obvious hidden nature of multiple hidden insulation and duct-sealing deficiencies, despite respective evidence and supporting testimony, including two professional engineering reports and one affidavit.

2. Material Fact Disputes

Genuine disputes of material fact exist regarding the cause, discoverability, and nature of the HVAC failure and resulting damages, that should prevent summary judgment. These include:

- Whether the 2008 dishwasher leak caused any damage to the ductwork
- Whether the 2008 photo shows dishwasher damage or early duct condensation under the cabinet
- Whether the ductwork was ever cleaned, modified or repaired, besides by Respondent
- Whether the Respondent made a ductwork repair in late 2008, after all other dishwasher leak repairs were complete
- Whether building code violations occurred
- Whether the defect was reasonably discoverable before September 2018

- Whether the small claims case against the builder was relevant or even admissible
- Whether the small claims action against the builder was for the same causes of action and/or involved the same parties
- Whether the holes in the bottom of some duct runs were made by Servpro and Appellant as testified

The trial court misapplied the statute of limitations by failing to properly apply the discovery rule to latent construction defects and relied entirely on a narrative presentation by Respondent's counsel, despite contradictory evidence and the *absence* of evidence to support virtually all his assertions.

3. Procedural Violations

The trial court improperly considered late-filed memoranda and evidence submitted and notice given to Appellant only three days before the hearing in violation of Rule 56(c), S.C.R.C.P., depriving Appellant of a fair opportunity to respond.

4. Improper Use of Incomplete Prior Proceedings

The trial court improperly relied on an incomplete small claims court record where nearly all of Appellant's entire testimony was inadvertently erased by the court and that of the builder/defendant remained. The case involved completely different issues and parties, disregarding the requirements of res judicata or collateral estoppel under South Carolina law.

Each of these errors independently, and certainly collectively, mandate reversal of the trial court's granting summary judgment.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Summary judgment was improper where obvious and disputed material facts remained as to the cause and discovery of the damage.

The statute of repose does not apply to removable appliances like HVAC systems or its insulation wrap. Even if it did, clear exceptions under § 15-3-670 for building code violations, recklessness, gross negligence, concealment and hidden defects preclude its use here.

The trial court failed to address Appellant's argument that the HVAC system/ductwork/insulation does not constitute a permanent improvement to real property and ignored the statutory exceptions raised under § 15-3-670. These legal and factual errors require reversal and remand for trial.

The defect was latent, concealed outside the living space, under the home, within a crawl space beneath the home, and Appellant had no reasonable notice of it before 2018. The trial court erred in fact finding, granting summary judgment and denying reconsideration. This is particularly in error when this decision relied exclusively on late-filed lengthy memo filled with disputed statements and no actual evidence. All this, coupled with Respondent's misleading narrative regarding irrelevant past insurance claims and prior proceedings with no bearing whatsoever on the failure of the Respondent to properly apply the required insulation, causing severe property damage to Appellant's home. Additionally, the court ignored material evidence of a breach of duty by the Respondent outlined in 2 PE reports and supporting affidavits from Appellate and his technical expert Maddox which were timely filed by Appellant ahead of the hearing on September 6, 2025. (R. pp. 55 – 65)

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred in Granting Summary Judgment Where Genuine Issues of Material Fact Remained

Summary judgment should be granted cautiously, especially in negligence cases, where the existence of a duty and breach are often fact-intensive inquiries. “Negligence cases are ordinarily not susceptible of summary adjudication.” *Tupper*, 326 S.C. at 323, 487 S.E.2d at 190. *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997)

Summary judgment is appropriate only where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. See Rule 56(c), S.C.R.C.P.; *Baughman v. Am. Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991). In reviewing such a motion, the court must view all evidence and inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002).

Here, the trial court failed to properly apply this standard and instead improperly weighed disputed evidence by accepting Respondent’s misleading narrative. There are numerous genuine issues of material fact, including evidence of expert testimony that should be submitted to a jury.

1. Whether the 2008 dishwasher leak caused any damage to the ductwork

Other than Respondent’s speculative theory, there is no evidence at all the dishwasher affected the duct insulation under the cabinet, much less of the entire home. State Farm, working with Servpro water mitigation professionals would have been the first ones, and with good reason, to call this out. State Farm had clear line of sight to all past claims and while they make note of the dishwasher leak in 2008, there is no mention of *any connection* with the past dishwasher leak. Of note here, the exact same failure was seen under bathroom cabinets at opposite ends of the house more than 25 feet in each direction from the dishwasher in the kitchen. (R. p. 84)

This assertion is made without any supporting evidence or expert opinion, other than Respondent’s counsel’s opinion of what he can see in the photos from 2008. Additionally, and very importantly, Gunter was at the time Appellant’s HVAC service company. Respondent came on site and replaced a section of ductwork in the house which was completed *after* the dishwasher leak repairs were complete. See replaced duct from closet in bathroom. (R. pp. 93, 94 and 95, MTR Exhibits, A13, A14 and A15), (R. pp. 215 & 216)

This duct section Respondent replaced was in a separate part of the bathroom, not the under-cabinet where initial damage was discovered, leaving the rest un-touched. Appellant paid Gunter Heating and Air \$150.00.

“We never had the multiple people inspecting and doing things with the ductwork. The only person to touch that ductwork after we took possession of the house, despite what he has said was apparently done in 2008, the only person to touch that ductwork and do anything with it was Gunter.....They replaced a small section of the ductwork that had a pack of crackers that you could see, this goes along with the bits of wood.”

Maness, MSJH (R. p. 27, Tr. P 19: 2 – 11), (R. pp. 93 – 95, 215)

2. Whether the 2008 photo shows dishwasher leak damage or early duct condensation which had been trapped under the small cabinet section.

See State Farm pictures: (R. p. 268, State Farm # 507), (R. p. 269, SF# 508) and (R. p. 264, SF# 464).

These photos, 268 and 269 show the HVAC leaking, inadequately sealed and insulated duct under the kitchen cabinet in 2008. Photo 264 shows it from the top with cabinet removed because the dishwasher leaked.

Compare these with EDT Report Figures 23, 24, 25, 26 and 27. (R. p. 298 – 300)

Respondent introduced a photo which he incorrectly identifies it in his comparison with EDT report photos showing poorly insulated boots (this particular duct is Figure 25 in the EDT report) in an effort to characterize it as pristine and perfect about the time of the dishwasher leak. (R. p. 299)

“A couple of other things, Your Honor, the State Farm file, there is in the color pictures I presented on Bates stamp number 507 [R. p. 268], we see in this -- taken apparently in 2008, we see the sub flooring, which shows a huge water stain. And it appears to be ductwork, which is wrapped and then abutting the underside of the sub flooring. that is the HVAC ductwork. It's not sagging. It's not torn. It doesn't look like it looked in Mr. Jayco's report in limited spots, but that's clearly, Your Honor, moisture on the underside of the sub flooring. Who knows what it did to get into my client's work? And that's -- you know, those are pictures from ten years before this incident and eleven years before Mr. Jayco was able to inspect it.”

Williams, (R. p. 42, Tr. P 34: 9-21)

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