**RECEIVED**

**May 18 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

---

G.D. Morgan, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No.: 2024-002011

---

Steven Maness,.....Appellant,

v.

Gunter Heating & Air, LLC and Teddy L. Gunter,.....Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

---

Charles O. "Bo" Williams III  
(S.C. Bar No. 69495)  
Gallivan, White & Boyd, P.A.  
P.O. Box 10589  
Greenville, South Carolina 29603  
Telephone: (864) 271-5347  
Facsimile: (864) 271-7502

Attorney for Respondents

##

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

Likewise, Respondents assert the report of expert Maddox cannot be considered since it occurred 19 years after Respondents completed their work, and over five (5) years after Jaco's inspection. Maddox cannot testify to how the system appeared at the time of installation in 2005,

especially considering the access third parties had to the system over that 19-year period, as well as the damage that was caused to Respondents' work following the 2018 claim.

Moreover, Respondents also note that expert Jaco made several findings that demonstrate the HVAC system was performing properly. Jaco determined that the HVAC system had sufficient air flow. Jaco noted, "The air flow rate in the supply and the return duct systems of the downstairs HVAC system is sufficient for efficient operation..." (R. p. 303) Jaco also noted, "The air flowing to the evaporator coil was measured at 71 degrees Fahrenheit (F) and the air flowing from the evaporator coil was measured at 52 degrees F...The temperature of the air was lowered 19 degrees F...The HVAC system is functioning normally..." (R. p. 303). So, in summary, the primary issue Jaco found in the HVAC system, including the ductwork, were the tears in the foil vapor barrier that were admittedly made by Appellant and ServPro.

Accordingly, Respondents assert Appellant simply cannot provide any evidence that Respondents failed to use reasonable care in 2005 when the subject HVAC system was installed. Not only does Appellant fail to plead gross negligence, but he has failed to present reliable evidence to support a claim for gross negligence.

In summary, Appellant chose to plead simple negligence in his Complaint. Appellant never sought to amend his Complaint to assert gross negligence, even after Respondents asserted the Statute of Repose as an affirmative defense. The applicable Statute of Repose for this house expired in December of 2013, nearly eight (8) years prior to the filing of Appellant's Complaint. At no point in any of his filings, or during the summary judgment hearing, does Appellant contest the fact that he missed the Statute of Repose by nearly eight (8) years. Therefore, Appellant's claim for simple negligence against Respondents must fail.

III. The trial court properly granted summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure based on the Statute of Limitations and the Discovery Rule.

Appellant's Complaint also fails as a matter of law because Appellant brought this action outside the applicable Statute of Limitations. Appellant's Complaint is subject to the Discovery Rule and fails because Appellant's Complaint was filed years after the cause of action ought to have been discovered.

A. Discovery Rule

Appellant's Complaint fails as a matter of law because Appellant brought this action outside the Statute of Limitations, subject to the Discovery Rule. All issues raised by Appellant are subject to a three (3) year Statute of Limitations per *S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-3-530*. Generally, a cause of action accrues under South Carolina law the moment the defendant breaches a duty owed to the Plaintiff. This standard is subject to the Discovery Rule, which allows for the statute of limitations to run not when evidence of injury first appears, but rather, when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered. *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 468 S.E.2d 645 (1996).

For Appellant's theory of liability to succeed, he must prove Respondents alleged faulty work was present since December of 2005 when Greenville County building inspectors approved Respondents' work, and the Certificate of Occupancy was issued. Likewise, Appellant's negligence cause of action against Respondents reasonably should have been discovered in 2008, when Appellant sued Hogan Builders. In that prior action, according to documents on file with Greenville County, Appellant complained of numerous construction issues, including issues relating to the HVAC system and ductwork. The presiding Magistrate, Judge Simms, authored an Order on December 8, 2009 that stated, "At trial, [Appellant] presented testimony and exhibits outlining claimed defects in the following areas...(8) ductwork." (R. p. 240) In Judge Simms'

“Finding of Fact,” he noted “[Appellant] complained of snack food refuse in the ductwork. Defendant Hogan Properties submitted evidence that Hogan Properties was a 100% energy star builder. As a result, the HVAC system installed by Respondents was inspected at rough-in by a third-party inspector, at rough-in by Greenville County Inspectors, at completion by a third-party inspector, and by Appellant’s home inspector prior to closing. Accordingly, per evidence submitted by Hogan Builders, four (4) different entities inspected Respondents’ HVAC system. As a result of the evidence submitted in that trial, Judge Simms made a specific finding of fact regarding prior inspections of the HVAC ductwork as part of the action against Hogan Builders, the same ductwork that Appellant complains of in the present action. If the issues Appellant now complains of were present during that prior litigation, as Appellant contends, those issues should have been discovered in the prior litigation.

The Discovery Rule dictates the three-year window for suing Respondents started at the latest, in December of 2008, when Appellant sued Hogan Builders. Construing the allegations in the complaint in a light most favorable to Appellant, Appellant’s window for bringing any claims against Respondents would have closed, at the latest, in December of 2011. Therefore, Appellant’s current action is nearly ten (10) years outside the applicable statute of limitations.

Additionally, Appellant made two (2) separate water-damage claims with his homeowners’ carrier, State Farm, in 2008 and 2009, respectively. Appellant’s 2008 claim involved a defective/leading dishwasher that damaged Appellant’s kitchen and per the State Farm claims’ file, impacted portions of Appellant's HVAC system. (R. p. 247-270) That file indicated ServPro and Paul Davis Restoration separately sent crews to inspect water damage in the insulation and crawlspace underneath wood flooring in Appellant’s kitchen. ServPro and Paul Davis Restoration also dried out Appellant’s home to prevent mold and mildew. Further, State Farm’s claim file

included line items to replace 409 square feet of batt insulation that was removed from the crawlspace, to replace 20 linear feet of ductwork, and to replace at least one (1) ductwork register boot. This claim was resolved for \$31,104.58 per the claim file.

Appellant's second water-damage claim with State Farm occurred in 2009 and appeared to involve an overflowing toilet in the second story of Appellant's home. (R. p. 271-282) Once again, ServPro came to Appellant's house to dry out and dehumidify the house. Appellant resolved this claim for \$6,915.00 per the claim file.

While Appellant second claim with State Farm may not have exposed Respondents' HVAC ductwork, Appellant's first State Farm claim, in 2008, certainly did per the claim file. Appellant's action against Hogan Builders in 2008 and his water-damage claim against State Farm in 2008 involved professional inspections of Appellant's HVAC system, specifically the ductwork. Both of these matters must trigger the Discovery Rule, which would have required Appellant to bring an action in 2011 at the latest. Instead, Claimant filed the present action nearly 10 years too late, in 2021.

In his Brief, Appellant argues the trial court misapplied or was misled by the prior action against Hogan Builders. Respectfully, Respondents assert they merely presented the trial court a copy of Appellant's Complaint against Hogan Builders, pictures submitted by Appellant to the court in support of the action against Hogan Builders, and the Order from Judge Simms that discussed the evidence that was presented to the Court by the parties, his findings of fact, and his ultimate ruling. Appellant's own words and allegations reference the HVAC ductwork. Respondents assert the trial court in the present action correctly determined the prior lawsuit involved complaints about the HVAC ductwork and properly triggered the Discovery Rule.

Likewise, at nearly the same time that Appellant sued Hogan Builders, he filed a claim with State Farm for water-damage due to a defective dishwasher. Again, State Farm's claims file clearly shows an investigation of insulation beneath Appellant's kitchen, an investigation of the HVAC ductwork and a register boot. State Farm's file literally calls for the replacement of Respondents' work. This investigation and any subsequent work may have altered Respondents' prior work product and most certainly would have exposed portions of the HVAC system to the professionals who were prescribing and/or performing this repair work.

In his Section I of Appellant's Brief, Appellant appears to present an entirely new theory, while discussing the 2008 dishwasher claim with State Farm.<sup>2</sup> Appellant contends a picture from the State Farm file (R. p. 268), showing ductwork entering Appellant's subfloor from the crawlspace, depicts the same ductwork as is shown in Figure 25 of the Jaco Report.<sup>3</sup> (R. p. 299) Appellant appears to concoct a new theory that some of the water damage from the 2008 claim was actually related to the HVAC system, not his dishwasher. Respondent states, "One can see now in retrospect what was happening, but every single expert missed it; ServPro, State Farm adjusters, flooring contractor...these experts completely missing this early condensation." (p. 15 Appellant's Brief)<sup>4</sup>

Ironically, (if one chooses to follow this argument) Appellant admits multiple experts inspected, but missed, what should have been caught in 2008—condensation from the HVAC system—thereby admitting that the Discovery Rule should have been triggered. Yet, Appellant

---

<sup>2</sup> This appears to be another novel issue raised for the first time on appeal and never raised during oral argument before Judge Morgan.

<sup>3</sup> Respondent contends this is not the same section of ductwork, as the surrounding wood members are not the same.

<sup>4</sup> Notably, nowhere in State Farm's 2008 Claims file is there an indication that condensation from the HVAC system contributed to this loss. In fact, the first page of the Claim document states "Facts of Loss: water coming from dishwasher"

waited until 2021 to file suit. Elsewhere in his filings, Appellant claims he could not possibly have discovered this issue until 2018, when it manifested in his home. Yet, in his latest brief he now theorizes for the first time that it was present in 2008, and was missed by multiple experts who inspected that condition. Further, at the same time experts were addressing his 2008 water-damage claim, Appellant was also suing Hogan Builders for alleged defects in workmanship and overall quality with, among other things, his HVAC ductwork.

Respondents reiterate what was stated during the hearing on this matter. The picture in question from the State Farm file shows the wood floor surrounding Respondents' work to be wet from the malfunctioning dishwasher. The picture also shows that Respondents' work was exposed to experts for investigation during that 2008 incident, thus triggering the Discovery Rule. Further, this picture also shows Respondents' work is neither sagging nor torn, as reported in Jaco's Report. Appellant has provided no photographs showing defects in Respondents' work at any time prior to 2019—nearly 14 years after installation and nearly 6 years after the expiration of the Statute of Repose. Further, Appellant admits he himself, along with ServPro, cut the insulation on the ductwork following the 2018 incident, although that fact was apparently not disclosed to expert Jaco during his inspection, where he attributed condensation to those tears. The 2019 and 2024 expert inspections cannot possibly provide accurate descriptions of Respondents' 2005 installation. Echoing Jaco's affidavit again, "[he] cannot state to a reasonable degree of engineering certainty, that there were issues with the Gunter Heating & Air Conditioning's installation of the HVAC duct insulation considering that my inspection occurred more than 13 years after that initial installation." (R. p. 304)

Therefore, the trial court did not err in ordering a dismissal pursuant to *S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-3-530* because the Statute of Limitations and Discovery Rule barred Appellant's claims at the latest in December of 2011.

IV. Appellant may not raise an issue on appeal for the first time.

In his brief, Appellant appears to raise new issues that were not raised at the trial court level of litigation. Appellant cannot raise "facts" or legal issues that were not raised and/or ruled upon by the trial court. The law is clear that only issues "fairly and properly raised to the lower court and passed upon by that court" can be appealed. *State v. Oxner*, 391 S.C. 132, 134, 705 S.E.2d 51, 52 (2011) (internal quotations omitted). *See Also Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 565, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). For this Court to have "a platform for meaningful appellate review," *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) the circuit court must have had the opportunity for each theory advanced by Appellant "to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments," *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). Where a party raises an issue, but the issue is never ruled on by the trial court, and the party fails to file a motion to alter or amend, the issue is not preserved. *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Group*, 347 S.C. 333, 544 S.E.2d 870 (Ct. App. 2001). Appellant appeared to raise the following issues for the first time on appeal:

- Gross Negligence Cause of Action—To the extent Appellant requests the Court to amend his Complaint and add a new cause of action for Gross Negligence, when Appellant did not originally plead Gross Negligence, that issue was never raised during oral argument. Further, as noted above, it is not the province of the Court to repair Appellant's defective pleading.

- Concealment of a Cause of Action—Appellant appears to argue the HVAC ductwork was hard to access since it was in the crawlspace of his home and therefore should be considered “concealed.”
- Late field memoranda—Appellant incorrectly refers to Rule 56(c) of the *South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure* for the proposition that a memorandum in support of a summary judgment motion should be served 10 days before the hearing. In fact, Respondents’ Motion for Summary Judgment was filed on April 25, 2024, months before the ultimate hearing on this matter. Respondents also specifically cited the Statute of Repose and Statute of Limitations in that April filing. Appellants’ memorandum in support of their Motion was filed in accordance with the filing requirements of Greenville County and Judge G.D. Morgan.
- Res judicata and collateral estoppel—Appellant appears to argue that Respondents relied on the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel by referencing Appellant’s prior action against Hogan Builders. However, Respondents referenced this prior action to assert that it triggered the Discovery Rule for purposes of the Statute of Limitations.
- New theory that 2008 dishwasher leak may have been related to HVAC ductwork condensation—Appellant appears to argue, for the first time, that his 2008 claim with State Farm for a defective dishwasher may have also been related to issues with this ductwork. This is a novel theory that Appellant raised for the first time in his Appellant’s brief.

For the reasons argued above, Respondents assert Appellant cannot raise these issues for the first time on appeal.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondents request that the Court deny the appeal and affirm the decision of the trial court. Appellant's Complaint fails as a matter of law because the Statute of Repose ran eight (8) years before Appellant filed his Complaint against Respondents. Appellant's Complaint also fails as a matter of law because Appellant brought this action outside the applicable Statute of Limitations. Appellant's Complaint is subject to the Discovery Rule and fails because Appellant's Complaint was filed nearly ten (10) years after the cause of action ought to have been discovered. Accordingly, Respondents respectfully request this Court affirm the circuit court's order in full.